IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MARY LOU MCSWEENEY-WILSON,

Appellant/Petitioner,

vs.

No. 82806

Electronically Filed Jun 14 2021 11:07 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

District No. 20OC000051E

STOREY COUNTY COMMISSIONERS AND STERICYCLE, INC.,

Respondents.

APPELLANT OPENING BRIEF

MARY LOU MCSWEENEY-WILSON Attorney At Law, Bar #3329 132 Rue De La Noir Sparks, Nv. 89434 775-771-8620 KEITH LOOMIS Assistant District Attorney 201 S. C. Street Virginia City, Nevada 89440

STERICYCLE, INC. c/o McDonald/Carano Michael Pagni and Chelsea Latino 100 W. Liberty St. 10th Floor Reno, Nevada 89501

Attorney for Appellant

Attorneys for Respondents

1	TABLE OF CONTENTS,i
2	TABLE OF AUTHORITIES,ii, iii, iv
4	STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW,4
5	STATEMENT OF THE CASE,4
6	STATEMENT OF THE FACTS,
7	LEGAL ISSUES, 12, 20, 32
9 10 11	ISSUE 1-Whether the Nevada Governor's Executive Order suspending the Open Meeting Law requirement for three (3) physical postings in three (3) locations within Storey County and the Order to Stay at Home during the worldwide COVID-19 pandemic created a Due Process violation under the United States and Nevada Constitutions?
12 13 14 15	<u>ISSUE 2</u> -Whether Appellant/Petitioner had standing to bring a Petition for Judicial Review of the County Commissioners vote to approve a special use permit for Stericycle, Inc., a biohazardous medical waste incineration plant, when she and other Storey County Residents did not receive Notice of the Agendas?20
16 17	<u>ISSUE 3</u> -Whether Appellant/Petitioner could satisfy the standing requirement if representing Phillip Hilton, Rainbow Bend resident and Sam Toll, Gold Hill resident, both Storey County residents, if they satisfied NRS 278.3195(4)?32
18	CONCLUSION40
19	
20	
21	
22 23	
24	
25	
	i

¹ TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

2	Action Apartment Ass'n, Inc. v. Santa Monica Rent Control Bd.,
3	509 F.3d 1020, 1026 (9th Cir.2007),
4	Agudath Isr. of Am. v. Cuomo, 983 F.3d 620 (2nd Cir. 2020),
5	
6	<i>Attorney General v. Nevada Tax Comm'n</i> , 181 P.3d 675, 124 Nev. 232 (Nev. 2008),
7	
8	Brittain v. Hansen, 451 F.3d 982, 991 (9th Cir.2006),27, 30
9	<i>Buzz Stew. LLC v. City of N. Las Vegas</i> , 124 Nev. 224, 228, 181 P.3d 670, 672 (2008),
10	
11	<i>Capp v. Cnty. of San Diego</i> , 940 F.3d 1046 (9th Cir. 2019),21, 26
12	Christensen v. Yolo County Bd. of Sup'rs, 995 F.2d 161 (9th Cir. 1993),29
13	City of Las Vegas v. Macchiaverna, 99 Nev. 256, 257,
14	661 P.2d 879, 880 (1983),
15	<i>Cnty. of Sacramento v. Lewis</i> , 523 U.S. 833, 845–49,
16	118 S.Ct. 1708, 140 L.Ed.2d 1043 (1998),
17	Desrosiers v. Governor, 486 Mass. 369, 158 N.E.3d 827 (Mass. 2020),22
18	Halverson v. Skagit County, 42 F.3d 1257 (9th Cir. 1995),
19	Harris v. County of Riverside, 904 F.2d 497, 502 (9th Cir.1990),29
20	<i>Harris V. County of Riverside</i> , 304 1.2d 497, 302 (9th Ch.1990),
21	<i>Henning Jacobson v. Commonwealth of Massachusetts</i> , 197 U.S. 11, 25 S.Ct. 358, 49 L.Ed. 643, 3 Ann.Cas. 765 (1905),22
22	197 U.S. 11, 25 S.Ct. 558, 49 L.Ed. 045, 5 Ann.Cas. 705 (1905),
23	<i>Hodel v. Va. Surface Mining & Reclamation Ass'n</i> , 452 U.S. 264, 302, 101 S.Ct. 2352, 69 L.Ed.2d 1 (1981),27
24	
25	Humboldt River Ranch Ass'n v. Pershing Cnty. Bd. of Comm'rs, 381 P.3d 622(Table) (Nev. 2012),12

1	<i>Kay v. Nunez,</i> 146 P.3d 801, 805 (Nev. 2006),26
2 3	<i>Li v. Ruiz</i> , 922 F.2d 844 (9th Cir. 1990),
4	Marsh v. Cnty. of San Diego, 680 F.3d 1148, 1154 (9th Cir.2012),
5	<i>McKay v. Board of Sup'rs of Carson City</i> , 730 P.2d 438, 102 Nev. 644 (Nev. 1986),
7	Nasierowski Bros. Inv. Co. v. City of Sterling Heights, 949 F.2d 890, 896 (6th Cir.1991),
8 9	Nunez v. City of Los. Angeles, 147 F.3d 867, 871 (9th Cir. 1998),21, 26, 28, 31
10 11	Portland Audubon Soc'y v. Endangered Species Comm., 984 F.2d 1534, 1548 (9th Cir. 1993),26
12 13	<i>Recchia v. City of L. A. Dep't of Animal Servs.</i> , 889 F.3d 553 (9th Cir. 2018),27
14 15	Sanchez v. Wal–Mart Stores, 125 Nev. 818, 823, 221 P.3d 1276, 1280 (2009),12
16	Soranno's Gasco, Inc. v. Morgan, 874 F.2d 1310, 1318 (9th Cir. 1989),27
17	Sylvia Landfield Trust v. City of L.A. (9th Cir. 2013),
18 19	<i>Village of Euclid v. Ambler Realty Co.</i> , 272 U.S. 365, 395, 47 S.Ct. 114, 121, 71 L.Ed. 303 (1926),
20 21	Vincent Gillespie & Another 1 v. City of Northampton, 460 Mass. 148, 950 N.E.2d 377 (Mass. 2011),22
22 23	<u>STATUTES</u>
24	NRAP 17 (a) (11),
25	NRAP 17 (a) (12),

1	NRS Chapter 241,
2	NRS 241.010,
3	NRS 241.020,
5	NRS 241.020(1),
6	NRS 241.020(3),
7	NRS 278.0235,
8	NRS 241.036,
9	NRS 241.0365,17
11	NRS 278.3195(4)(b),2, 4, 10, 26, 32, 33, 34, 35, 37, 38, 41
12	
13	FJDCR 3.13,
14	NRCP 12 (b) (5),
15	
16	
17	
18	
19	
20	
21	
22	
23	
24	
25	
	iv

1	
2	IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA
3	
4	MARY LOU MCSWEENEY-WILSON,
5	Appellant/Petitioner,
6	vs. No. 82806
7	District No. 20000051E
8	STOREY COUNTY COMMISSIONERS AND STERICYCLE, INC.,
9 10	Respondents.
11	/
12	APPELLANT OPENING BRIEF
13	
14	Mary Lou McSweeney-Wilson, Appellant/Petitioner, filed a Petition for
15	Judicial Review regarding the Storey County Commissioners vote to approve a
16 17	special use permit granting Stericycle, Inc. the ability to incinerate biohazardous
18	medical waste material at Tahoe-Reno Industrial Center.
19	This special use permit was voted upon by two (2) Storey County
20	Commissioners, Jay Carmona, and Marshall McBride, on August 18, 2020.
21 22	Commissioner Lance Gilman recused himself from the vote, since he had sold the
23	property to Stericycle, Inc.
24	The vote of approval took place between the Storey County Planning
25	Commissioners and the Storey County Commissioners between July and August of

2020, when the Nevada Governor had suspended the Open Meeting Law, requiring physical postings of Agendas in three (3) locations within Storey County and within three (3) days of the Storey County Planning and Commission meetings. In addition, the Nevada Governor's Stay At Home Ordre was in effect, because of the worldwide Pandemic concerning COVID-19.

Therefore, the residents of Rainbow Bend and Lockwood Community Corporation were not provided physical written or posted Notice of Stericycle's plan.

The Nevada Governor's Orders created an unintended consequence for the citizens of Storey County to be blind-sighted by the Storey County Commissioners vote to approve the special use permit to Stericycle, Inc., a danger to the health, safety, and welfare of the community and surrounding areas.

Appellant/Petitioner discovered the special use permit vote through word of mouth from a neighbor living in Rainbow Bend, who was on the Homeowners Association and Canyon General Improvement District, Larry Huddleson. Appellant/Petitioner immediately filed the Petition for Judicial Review on September 10, 2020, which was within twenty-five (25) days of August 18, 2020, pursuant to NRS 278.3195(4)(b).

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that there are no corporations or any publicly held company that owns 10% or more of petitioner's stock. Undersigned counsel also certifies the following are persons and entities as described in NRAP 26.1(a), and must be disclosed. These representations are made in order that the judges of this court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal. Keith Loomis, Assistant District Attorney, representing the Storey County Commissioners. Michael Pagni and Chelsea Latino from the law firm of McDonald/Carano, representing Stericycle Inc. DATED this 12th day of June, 2021. By: /s/: MARY LOU WILSON MARY LOU WILSON Attorney At Law Bar #3329 2064 Regent Street, Reno, Nevada 89509 775-771-8620

NRAP 17 (a) (11) and (12). Cases retained by the Nevada Supreme Court are NRAP 17 (a) (11), Matters raising as a principal issue a question of first impression involving the United States or Nevada Constitutions or common law; As stated, the two Nevada Governor's Order's during the worldwide COVID-19 pandemic suspending the Open Meeting Law and the Order to Stay at Home precluded Appellant/Petitioner an opportunity to oppose the special use permit against Stericycle, Inc., a dangerous biohazardous medical waste facility, twelve (12) miles from Rainbow Bend, Lockwood, in Storey County, Lockwood, Nevada. These two (2) Orders violated Appellant/Petitioner's Due Process rights of the United States and Nevada Constitutions.

Agendas of the Storey County Planning and Commission meetings were typically posted at the Rainbow Bend Clubhouse and Lockwood Senior Center, which were closed to the public during this time period, resulting in residents of Lockwood without the ability to object to this dangerous company.

NRAP 17 (a) (12), Matters raising as a principal issue a question of statewide public importance;

This question involves statewide public importance because the health, safety, and welfare of Storey, Washoe, Carson, Douglas, Lyon, counties, Truckee River,

Pyramid and Tahoe Lakes, and federally protected wild Mustangs, which are at

risk from the poisonous dioxins that spew into the air.

ISSUES FOR APPEAL

ISSUE 1-Whether the Nevada Governor's Executive Order suspending the Open Meeting Law requirement for three (3) physical postings in three (3) locations within Storey County and the Order to Stay at Home during the worldwide COVID-19 pandemic created a Due Process violation under the United States and Nevada Constitutions?

ISSUE 2-Whether Appellant/Petitioner had standing to bring a Petition for Judicial Review of the County Commissioners vote to approve a special use permit for Stericycle, Inc., a biohazardous medical waste incineration plant, when she and other Storey County Residents did not receive Notice of the Agendas?

ISSUE 3-Whether Appellant/Petitioner could satisfy the standing requirement if representing Phillip Hilton, Rainbow Bend resident and Sam Toll, Gold Hill resident, both Storey County residents, if they satisfied NRS 278.3195(4)?

STATEMENT OF CASE

Appellant/Petitioner, hereinafter called (Wilson), filed a Petition for Judicial

Review on September 10, 2020, within twenty-five (25) days after the Storey

County Commissioners, hereinafter called (Commissioners), vote on August 18,

2020. Appellant Appendix, V. I, pp. 1-128. On September 11, 2020, a Supplement

to the Petition was filed, which attached voluminous research done by

Blockchains, Corporation, against Stericycle, Inc. I;129-250 and II;251-471.

(Wilson) relied primarily upon the Utah Physicians for a Healthy Environment,

Clean Air, Clean Energy, Clean Future, opposing the (Commissioner's) arbitrary

1

2

and capricious decision to approve the special use permit for Stericycle, Inc. II;126-28 and V;1128-29.

The (Commissioners), represented by the Assistant District Attorney, Keith Loomis, filed a Motion to Dismiss the Petition on September 23, 2020 for lack of standing. III;734-40. The corporation, Stericycle, Inc., hereinafter called (Stericycle), filed a Motion to Intervene in the lawsuit on September 25, 2020. V;1130-63. (Wilson) filed an Opposition to Stericycle's Motion to Intervene V;1121-27. The district court filed an Order to Permit Stericycle to Intervene. Thereafter, Stericycle filed a Motion to Dismiss the Petition for lack of standing on October 28, 2020. IV;898-904.

(Wilson) filed an Opposition to the (Commissioner's) Motion to Dismiss on October 1, 2020. III;741-50 and IV;751-97. And, (Wilson) filed an Opposition to (Stericycle's) Motion to Dismiss on November 13, 2020. IV;905-18. The (Commissioner's) filed a Reply to the Opposition on October 12, 2020. IV;798-857 and 941-1000 and V;1001-30. (Stericycle) filed a Reply to the Opposition on November 23, 2020. IV;919-23.

The district court granted an Order for an evidentiary hearing on November 16, 2020. V;1098-1100.

(Wilson) filed a Notice of Witnesses and Exhibits for the Evidentiary Hearing on December 2, 2020, which included photographs showing the Rainbow Bend Clubhouse and Lockwood Senior Center were closed to the public because of COVID-19. II;483-500 and III;501-11.

The (Commissioner's) filed a Motion to Correct Caption to eliminate Rainbow Bend Homeowners and Storey County Residents filed December 28, 2020. IV;924-31. (Wilson) filed an Opposition to Correct Caption to eliminate Rainbow Bend Homeowners and Storey County Residents on January 4, 2021. IV;932-36. The (Commissioner's) filed a Reply to Opposition to Motion to Correct Caption on March 8, 2021. V;1072-84. The district court filed an Order to Correct Caption, eliminating Rainbow Bend Homeowners and Storey County Residents, leaving (Wilson) alone within the caption as Petitioner on January 12, 2021. V;1103-05. On January 15, 2021, (Wilson) filed a Notice of Appearance for Michael E. Wilson, to assist (Wilson) as co-counsel. V;1164-66. (Wilson) also filed Subpoenas for three (3) witnesses, Larry Huttleston, Phillip Hilton, and Scott Martin, to testify regarding the lack of physical postings at the Rainbow Bend Clubhouse, Lockwood Senior Center, and Lockwood Fire station on January 15, 2021. V;1106-07; 1108-09; and 1110-11.

Thereafter, the (Commissioner's) filed a Motion in Limine on January 21, 2021. III;621-724, and a Corrected Motion in Limine on January 22, 2021. III;717-724, attempting to limit the evidentiary hearing to only argument, with no witnesses.

(Wilson) filed an Opposition to Motion and Corrected Motion in Limine on January 25, 2021, claiming witnesses were necessary during the evidentiary hearing. III;725-30. (Wilson) filed a Notice of Additional Argument under NRS 241.020, on February 12, 2021. II;475-82.

(Commissioner's) filed a List of Additional Exhibits for the Evidentiary Hearing on February 18, 2021, including witnesses, Minutes from Agendas, and Governor's Orders. V;1031-39.

(Commissioner's) filed its Storey County Commissioner's Evidentiary Hearing Statement on February 12, 2021. III;523-615. (Stericycle) filed its Hearing Statement on February 12, 2021. III;616-20. (Wilson) filed her Evidentiary Hearing Statement on February 16, 2021. III;512-22.

(Wilson) discovered that there were two (2) men that had "participated" in the zoom meetings of the Storey County Planning and Commission meetings on August 6, 2020 and August 18, 2020, and filed a Motion to Shorten Time and Leave of Court to Correct Judge's Order Changing the Caption to Eliminate Homeowners of Rainbow Bend Community, and Storey County Residents, Pursuant to FJDCR 3.13, filed February 17, 2021. V;1040-43. (Commissioner's) filed a List of Additional Exhibits for the Evidentiary Hearing on February 18, 2021. V;1031-39.

(Wilson), (Commissioner's), and (Stericycle) appeared through a zoom meeting with the Honorable Judge James Wilson to discuss the newly filed document. (Commissioner's) requested a continuance of the evidentiary hearing, (Stericycle) opposed the continuance, and the district court granted additional time to file research and writing on the issue.

(Commissioner's) filed an Opposition to (Wilson) Motion to Shorten Time and Leave of Court to Correct Judge's Order Changing the Caption to Eliminate Homeowners of Rainbow Bend Community and Storey County Residents Pursuant to FJDCR 3.13, on March 2, 2021. V;1044-48.

Although (Stericycle) Opposed the Continuance, it filed an Opposition to (Wilson) Motion on March 3 2021. V;1049-71. (Wilson) filed a Replies to the (Commissioner's) and (Stericycle's) Opposition. V;1072-84 and 1049-71.

Thereafter, the district court eliminated the evidentiary hearing and filed an Order Dismissing the Petition on March 12 2021. V;1112-16. The district court also filed an Order Granting Stericycle's Motion to Dismiss on March 12, 2021. V; 1117-20.

(Wilson) filed a Motion to Stay the district court's Order and Motion to file a Petition for Writ of Mandamus or Prohibition on March 17, 221. V;1188-90.

(Wilson) filed a Petition for Writ of Mandamus or Prohibition on March 23,2021. V;1195-1229. Within the time limit, (Wilson) filed a Notice of Appeal while

the Petition for Writ of Mandamus or Prohibition was pending, on April 15, 2021. V;1182-84 and 1185-87.

(Stericycle) filed an Opposition to the Motion for Stay on April 2, 2021. V;1172-78. The district court granted the Opposition to the Motion for Stay on April 15, 2021. V;1179-81.

This Court denied the Petition for Writ of Mandamus or Prohibition on May 14, 2021. V;1169-70.

This Court filed Notice of a Settlement Hearing and appointed J. Douglas Clark, as the Settlement Judge. V;1171. On May 19, 2021, Appointed Settlement Judge Clark scheduled a telephone conference with the parties, heard argument, and determined that this was not an appropriate settlement case. V;1167-68. This Court then Ordered briefing of the matter.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Blockchains Corporation, the largest land owner at Tahoe Regional Industrial Center, (TRI), was notified in writing of the Stericycle Corporations request for the special use permit and hearings of the Storey County Planning and Commission meetings, and launched their research and opposition to the company, providing stunning examples of bad practices, fines, and rejection by other states, including California, Washington, Utah, and North Las Vegas, Nevada. I;129-250 and II;251-47.

Although Blockchains presented their opposition to the special use permit of Stericycle, Inc., during the Storey County Planning and Commission meetings, via Zoom, the Storey County Planning and Commissioners rejected Blockchains arguments and approved the special use permit for Stericycle, Inc. on August 18, 2020, by two commissioners, Jay Carmona and Marshall McBride. Commissioner Lance Gilman, who represented Rainbow Bend and Lockwood Community Corporation, recused himself from the vote because he sold the land to Stericycle, Inc. and had a conflict of interest. III;523-616, specifically, pp. 601-15.

(Wilson), a ten-year resident of Rainbow Bend Community, Storey County, Nevada, learned about the approval of Stericycle's special use permit through an officer of the Rainbow Bend Homeowner Association and Canyon General Improvement District, Larry Huddleson. (Wilson) immediately filed a Petition for Judicial Review on September 10, 2020, which was timely filed under NRS 278.3195(4)(b). The purpose of the filing was for the district court to determine whether the Storey County Commissioners acted in an arbitrary and capricious manner when approving the special use permit granted to Stericycle, Inc. The research and writing presented by Blockchains Corporation showed that Stericycle, Inc. incinerated biohazardous toxic medical waste, which emitted some of the most dangerous chemicals known to man. (Wilson) wanted the district court to Order a re-vote of the Storey County Commissioners, since Storey County residents were

unaware of the Agendas of the Storey County Planning and Commission meetings. Had residents known about these meetings, there would have been an outcry of objection to the special use permit.

Two executive Orders by the Governor impaired the Storey County residents from opposing the Stericycle, Inc. special use permit because of the worldwide COVID-19 pandemic. The first Order suspended the Open Meeting Law, requiring physical postings of Storey County Planning and Commission Agendas in three (3) locations within the county, within three (3) days of the meetings. The other Order involved residents to Stay at Home, except in necessary circumstances.

Both of these Orders curtailed Storey County residents from learning about the Stericycle, Inc. special use permit request and the ability to oppose this dangerous company.

Therefore, the actions of the Storey County Commissioners approval of the special use permit for Stericycle amounted to a violation of Due Process of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States and Nevada Constitutions, had an unintended result of the Governor's Orders, and allowed for arbitrary and capricious decision-making without Notice and an opportunity to be heard.

ARGUMENTS

2

3

4

5

6

7

1

Standard of review-

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