IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Case No. 82806

MARY LOU MCSWEENEY-WILSON, Jul 28 2021 06:18 p.m. *Appellant*, Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

STOREY COUNTY COMMISSIONERS; and STERICYCLE, INC.,

Respondents.

Appeal from Orders Granting Motions to Dismiss First Judicial District Court, Case No. 20 OC 00051E

RESPONDENT STERICYCLE, INC.'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Michael A.T. Pagni (NSBN 6444) Chelsea Latino (NSBN 14227) McDONALD CARANO LLP 100 W. Liberty Street, 10th Floor Reno, Nevada 89501 (775) 788-2000 <u>mpagni@mcdonaldcarano.com</u> <u>clatino@mcdonaldcarano.com</u>

Attorneys for Respondent Stericycle, Inc.

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court correctly dismissed Wilson's petition because she lacked standing to obtain judicial review under NRS 278.3195(4), which this Court has repeatedly held is "clear and unambiguous." *Kay v. Nunez*, 122 Nev. 1100, 1105, 146 P.3d 801, 804 (2006). Wilson conceded that she did not file an administrative appeal. Therefore, the plain language of NRS 278.3195(4)(a) compelled the dismissal of Wilson's petition. This is the precise result that this Court already has reached on several prior occasions. *See id.*; *Holt-Still v. Washoe Cnty. Bd. of Cnty. Comm'rs*, No. 78784, 2020 WL 3570377, at *2 (Nev. June 30, 2020) ("Because appellants did not appeal to the governing body, the district court correctly concluded that they lacked standing to petition for judicial review."); see also Mesagate Homeowners Assoc. v. City of Fernley, 124 Nev. 1092, 1101, 194 P.3d 1278, 1254 (2008) ("Mesagate has failed to exhaust its administrative remedies by not appealing the City's building permit to the Board of Appeals established by the Fernley Development Code pursuant to NRS 278.3195. Thus, judicial review is improper"). These established principles are dispositive here.

In while affirmance \mathbf{is} addition, warranted under NRS 278.3195(4)(a) alone, a second jurisdictional defect compelled dismissal of Wilson's petition because she was not "aggrieved" by the Board's decision. Wilson is a homeowner in the Rainbow Bend Community, which is no less than 12 miles away from the subject property and well beyond the 300-foot notice area under NRS 278.315 and SCC § 17.03.130(B). Therefore, even if she had attempted to administratively appeal, which she did not, Wilson still would have lacked standing to seek judicial review. Accordingly, the district court lacked jurisdiction to consider her petition.

Wilson's arguments to the contrary ignore, misstate, or otherwise misapprehend the issue before the district court and do not warrant reversal of the district court's dismissal with prejudice. Thus, Stericycle respectfully requests that this Court affirm.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

This Court reviews orders granting motions to dismiss and purely legal questions de novo. *See Buzz Stew, LLC v. City of N. Las Vegas*, 124 Nev. 224, 227–28, 181 P.3d 670, 672 (2008); *see also Ogawa v. Ogawa*, 125 Nev. 660, 667, 221 P.3d 699, 704 (2009) ("Subject matter jurisdiction is a question of law subject to de novo review."). Orders denying reconsideration are reviewed for abuse of discretion. *AA Primo Builders, LLC v. Washington*, 126 Nev. 578, 589, 245 P.3d 1190, 1197 (2010).

II. Wilson Lacks Standing to Seek Judicial Review of the Board's Decision Under the Plain Language of NRS 278.3195(4).

Wilson has no right to judicial review based on the plain language of NRS 278.3195. NRS 278.3195(1) requires local governments to adopt an ordinance allowing "any person who is aggrieved by a decision" of a planning commission created under NRS 278.030 or "other person appointed or employed by the governing body who is authorized to make administrative decisions regarding the use of land" to "appeal the decision to the governing body." NRS 278.3195(1)(a), (d). The ordinance adopted by Storey County in accordance with NRS 278.3195(1) is codified at Section 17.03.130 of the Storey County Code of Ordinances. *See* SCC § 17.03.130(A) (allowing an "applicant or any aggrieved party" to appeal certain "administrative decision[s]" to the Board within 10 days of the written administrative decision, which may be affirmed, modified, or reversed by the Board); *id.* § 17.03.130(B)(1) (conferring standing to file an administrative appeal to the applicant or any aggrieved party who has participated in the administrative process).

After the governing body renders its decision in an administrative appeal, judicial review is available to a limited category of persons, as follows:

Any person who:

(a) Has appealed a decision to the governing body in accordance with an ordinance adopted pursuant to subsection 1; and

(b) Is aggrieved by the decision of the governing body,

may appeal that decision to the district court of the proper county by filing a petition for judicial review within 25 days after the date of filing of notice of the decision with the clerk or secretary of the governing body, as set forth in NRS 278.0235.

NRS 278.3195(4); *Kay*, 122 Nev. at 1105, 146 P.3d at 804 ("NRS 278.3195(4) is clear and unambiguous, and thus, we follow its plain meaning"). In other words, NRS 278.3195(4), "even when liberally construed and broadly interpreted, requires a petitioner to have appealed to the governing body," as well as be aggrieved by the governing body's decision. *Holt-Still*, 2020 WL 3570377, at *2.

Here, Wilson concedes she did not appeal to the governing body as required by NRS 278.3195(4)(a). As a result, she lacked standing to seek judicial review and, thus, the district court lacked jurisdiction to consider her petition. See Holt-Still, 2020 WL 3570377, at *2 ("Because appellants did not appeal to the governing body, the district court correctly concluded that they lacked standing to petition for judicial review."). The district court's dismissal should be affirmed on this basis alone. Washoe Cnty. v. Otto, 128 Nev. 424, 431, 431, 282 P.3d 719, 725 (2012) (explaining that "[s]trict compliance with the statutory requirements is a precondition to jurisdiction by the court of judicial review,' and '[n]oncompliance with the requirements is grounds for dismissal" (quoting *Kame v. Emp. Sec. Dep't*, 105 Nev. 22, 769 P.2d 66 (1989) (alterations in original))).

In addition, affirmance is independently warranted for lack of standing because Wilson was not "aggrieved" by the Board's decision as required by NRS 278.3195(4)(b). Because "the Legislature chose not to define 'aggrieved' for appeals in counties with populations of less than [700,000]," City of N. Las Vegas v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct., 122 Nev. 1197, 1206, 147 P.3d 1109, 1115 (2006), the pertinent local ordinance enacted under NRS 278.3195 controls who is "aggrieved" for purposes of filing an administrative appeal and petitioning for judicial review. Cf. Kay, 122 Nev. at 1107, 146 P.3d at 806 (indicating that the Legislature substituted its own definition of aggrieved for purposes of local land use decisions in Clark County, requiring that the definition of "aggrieved" under subsection 1 also apply to subsection 4). The Storey County Code defines "aggrieved party ... as a person with a legal or equitable interest in the property affected by the final decision or property located within the notice area of the property that is entitled by law to notice." SCC § 17.03.130(B)(1); see also NRS 278.315(3)(b)–(c) (requiring notice be sent to owners and certain

tenants of property "located within 300 feet of the property in question"); SCC § 17.03.070(B)(2)-(3) (same).

However, Wilson is a homeowner in the Rainbow Bend Community, which is over 12 miles west of the subject property for which the SUP was granted and well beyond the 300-foot notice area. See I AA 1, 17. Moreover, despite alleging a generalized interest in protecting "the health, safety, and welfare" of Storey County and "its surrounding areas" from "potential" adverse effects, she neither alleged nor could demonstrate how development 12 miles away and downwind of her property, within an existing 107,000-acre industrial park that has already been approved for the specific, intended purpose of aggregating the largest, most intense heavy industrial land uses in the County in one location miles away from residential uses, adversely and substantially affects her property. See Kay, 122 Nev. at 1107, 146 P.3d at 806 (noting the Nevada Supreme Court has "defined an 'aggrieved party' for general appellate purposes as one personal or property right has been adversely whose and substantially affected" (quoting Estate of Hughes v. First Nat'l Bank, 96 Nev. 178, 180, 605 P.2d 1149, 1150 (1980))). Thus, Wilson lacked standing because she was not "aggrieved" as required by NRS 278.3195(4)(b), which is an independent basis for affirmance.

Finally, in no event does NRS 278.3195(4) afford Wilson a right judicial review because the Planning Commission's to recommendation for approval of Stericycle's SUP Application was merely "advisory only to the board," such that there was no administrative decision Wilson could have "appealed," and thus, no administrative decision by which she could have been "aggrieved." SCC § 17.03.090; see also id. § 17.03.010; NRS 278.030(2) (providing that "counties whose population is less than 45,000 may create by ordinance a planning commission" (emphasis added)): NRS 278.315(1) (providing that a "governing body may provide by ordinance for the granting of variances, special use permits, conditional use permits or other special exceptions by ... the planning commission" (emphasis added)). Cf. Bd. of Comm'rs of Las Vegas v. Dayton Dev. Co., 91 Nev. 71, 73, 75–76, 530 P.2d 1187, 1188, 1190 (1975) (determining that a tie vote by the board resulted in no decision where there was only a recommendation from the planning commission, but no actual decision for the board's tie vote to uphold).

But as this Court concluded in *Holt-Still*, the fact that Wilson did not and could not have appealed to the Board "does not make the words '[h]as appealed' any less clear or ambiguous." 2020 WL 3570377, at *1 (alteration in original). Not only is extraordinary writ relief available where no adequate legal remedy such as judicial review exists,³ but had the Legislature intended to extend standing to a party who could not appeal to the governing body, "it would not have included a separate subsection expressly requiring a petitioner to '[h]a[ve] appealed' to the governing body." *Id.* at *2 (alterations in original) (quoting NRS 278.3195(4)(a)).

³ Of course, a party "must have standing to seek writ relief . . . for the district court to have subject matter jurisdiction over a petition for writ relief." *Garmong v. Lyon Cnty. Bd. of Comm'rs*, No. 74644, 2019 WL 1989191, at *1 (Nev. May 3, 2019). Even if Wilson had timely sought the proper remedy of extraordinary writ relief within NRS 278.0235's 25-day limitations period (she did not and is now time-barred from doing so), she still would lack standing to challenge the Board's decision because she has no beneficial interest in the relief she seeks, and instead relies on a generalized injury that is speculative at best and otherwise based on nonexistent procedural irregularities, as detailed herein. *See id.* at *1-2 (affirming district court's dismissal of writ petition challenging a governing body's issuance of a special use permit based on lack of standing where the petitioner "fail[ed] to show a direct and substantial injury, and instead relie[d] on a generalized injury").

The plain language of NRS 278.3195(4), "even when liberally construed and broadly interpreted, requires a petitioner to have appealed to the governing body." *Holt-Still*, 2020 WL 3570377, at *2. Because it is undisputed that Wilson did not do so, the district court correctly dismissed Wilson's petition for lack of standing. The district court also correctly concluded that Wilson lacked standing because Wilson was not "aggrieved" as required by NRS 278.3195(4)(b). Wilson's unsupported legal and factual arguments below and on appeal do not warrant reversal of the district court's decision.

III. Wilson's Remaining Arguments Lack Merit.

Despite the concession that she did not first file an administrative appeal and without disputing that she was not "aggrieved" or even attempting to address the requirements of NRS 278.3195(4), Wilson makes various unintelligible and unsupported arguments that ignore, misstate, or otherwise misapprehend the issue before the district court (i.e., standing under NRS 278.3195) and do not warrant reversal of the district court's decision. *See Edwards v. Emperor's Garden Rest.*, 122 Nev. 317, 330 n.38, 130 P.3d 1280, 1288 n.38 (2006) (recognizing that the Court need not consider claims of error by a party who neglects their "responsibility to cogently argue, and present relevant authority, in support"); *Douglas Disposal, Inc. v. Wee Haul, LLC*, 123 Nev. 552, 557 n.6, 170 P.3d 508, 512 n.6 (2007) (providing that the Court need not reach issues not addressed by the district court).

A. Nothing in this case implicates Wilson's due process rights.

Wilson argues that she "and other Storey County residents" were unaware of the proceedings due to Governor Sisolak's "Order to Stay at Home" and suspension of certain open meeting law requirements in connection with the COVID-19 pandemic. AOB 4, 15, 26–27. According to Wilson, these Emergency Directives denied Wilson notice and an opportunity to be heard, such that "the Storey County Commissioner's vote, in the absence of Notice to the communities that would be affected, is a violation of the Due Process Clause of the United States and Nevada AOB 20. Constitutions." Notwithstanding that Wilson commenced judicial review proceedings rather than a civil action asserting due process or open meeting law violations, nothing in this case implicates Wilson's due process rights. Cf. City of Henderson v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct., 137 Nev. Adv. Op. 26, 2021 WL 2603094 (June 24, 2021) (noting that "[a] petition for judicial review requests district court review of an

administrative decision, while a civil action initiates litigation between two or more parties," and holding "that petitions for judicial review of land use decisions pursuant to NRS 278.3195 are distinct from civil actions").

Due process is implicated when a governmental decision deprives an individual of a "liberty" or "property" interest. See Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 332 (1976); Malfitano v. Storey Cnty., 133 Nev. 276, 282, 396 P.3d 815, 819 (2017) (noting that a procedural due process claim involves interference with an existing liberty or property interest). Notably, Wilson does not dispute that she was not entitled by law to notice under NRS 278.315 given that she does not own or occupy property "located within 300 feet of the property in 278.315(3); see SCC §§ question." NRS 17.03.070(B)(2)-(3),17.03.130(B)(1). Nor does she dispute that notice was provided in accordance with Nevada's open meeting laws in effect at the time. See NRS 241.020; ED 006 (suspending the requirement that public notice agendas be posted at physical locations under NRS 241.020 and explaining that notice need only be posted online and provided via email or mail upon request); ED 026; ED 029; IV AA 995–96.

Not only can there be no open meeting or due process violation based on lack of notice where no right to notice exists in the first place, Wilson fails to identify a cognizable liberty or property interest, let alone one that was deprived. See Crown Point I, LLC v. Intermountain Rural Elec. Ass'n, 319 F.3d 1211, 1216–17 (10th Cir. 2003) (concluding that non-applicant had no "protectable property interest in the special use review procedure" where "the governing body retains discretion and the outcome of the proceeding is not determined by the particular procedure at issue"); Hillside Cmty. *Church v. Olson*, 58 P.3d 1021, 1026, 1030–31 (Colo. 2002) (concluding) that, because there can be no property right in mere procedure under the due process clause, neighboring property owners had no cognizable property interest in notice and an opportunity to participate in a special use permit hearing or in having the challenged special use permit denied); see also IV AA 907 ("Petitioner does not contest that Stericycle complied with whatever conditions necessary for application before the Planning and Commissioner's its meetings."). As a result, Wilson's conclusory due process arguments fail and should be rejected.

B. The district court appropriately exercised its discretion to deny Wilson's futile request for "reconsideration."

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